IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERNEST LEE ROMAN,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 63,766

FILED

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR SUMTER COUNTY, FLORIDA

OCT 2 3 1983

SID J. WHITE CLERK SUPREME COURT

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT Q. WILLIAMS
WILLIAMS & SMITH
221 North Joanna Avenue
Tavares, Florida 32778

CHRISTOPHER J. SMITH
WILLIAMS & SMITH
221 North Joanna Avenue
Tavares, Florida 32778

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The appellant, ERNEST LEE ROMAN, will be referred to in this brief as "Roman," "the appellant" or "the Defendant."

Citations to the record on appeal will be designated by the letter "R." in parenthesis followed by the page in the record where the citation appears. (R. ____).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At trial the state's evidence and testimony revealed the following facts:

On the evening of March 13, 1981, there was a get together at a mobile home in Sumter County. (R. 489; 537; 554; 608). The mobile home belonged to Mildred Beaudoin, the sister of the Defendant, Ernest Roman. (R. 488-489). For approximately two to three months Roman had been living in a travel trailer parked behind the Beaudoin mobile home. Arthur Reese, a state witness who was forcibly brought to Sumter County from Arizona in order to testify against Roman, had been residing with Roman for approximately two to three weeks before the murder occurred. (R. 2235-2236).

Several people came and left the Beaudoin mobile home between the hours of approximately 9:30 p.m. March 13, and 2:00 a.m. March 14; namely, Mildred Beaudoin, the owner; Ray Beaudoin, the Defendant's nephew; Kellene Smith, the mother of the two year old victim, Tasha Marie Smith; Chip Mogg, Kellene Smith's boyfriend; Reese; Roman and several others who did not testify. Wanda Lee Pritchard, who testified that she had known Roman for about five years, visited the Beaudoin residence earlier in the evening. (R. 1330). When Smith and Mogg arrived at the Beaudoin residence between approximately 9:30 and 11:00 p.m., they left the victim asleep in the back seat of Mogg's Volkswagen automobile when they entered the Beaudoin residence. (R. 489; 537; 554; 608).

Smith testified that she went to the car to check on her daughter at about midnight and she was still asleep. (R. Shortly thereafter, Mogg drove Ray Beaudoin to work at a nearby truck stop where Ray Beaudoin checked into work at 559). Beaudoin testified that the approximately 12:12. (R. victim slept in the back of the car during the short journey. (R. 558). Mogg testified that he did not see Roman at anytime between 10:00 p.m. and 12:30 a.m., when he and Smith left the trailer, but Reese testified that Roman entered the trailer shortly after Mogg returned. (R. 551; 609). Smith and Mogg left the trailer approximately 5 to 20 minutes after Mogg returned. 492: 539). Smith does not mention whether Roman was present after Mogg returned, and Reese does not clearly indicate whether Roman left before Smith and Mogg.

When Smith and Mogg left the trailer in Mogg's

Volkswagen, they did not check the back seat for the baby. The

Volkswagen ran out of gas sometime after leaving the Beaudoin

trailer. Smith testified that they had driven only a few blocks,

but Mogg testified that they had driven approximately four

miles before they ran out of gas. (R. 496; 544). Upon running

out of gas they discovered that the victim was not in the

backseat and was missing. (R. 496; 540). Smith, who had been

drinking that night, stated that she and Mogg returned to the

Beaudoin residence within five minutes of running out of gas.

(R. 510; 513). Mogg, who had also been drinking, testified that

he and Smith did not return to the Beaudoin residence until

approximately 1:30 to 1:45 a.m., approximately an hour to an hour

and one-half after leaving the Beaudoin residence. (R. 513; 544-545; 561).

When Smith and Mogg returned to the Beaudoin trailer they searched for the baby for approximately two hours without success before notifying the police that the baby was missing. 530). The baby's body was discovered in a shallow grave at approximately 3:00-3:30 p.m. on March 14. (R. 790). The gravesite was located approximately 37 feet from an abandoned trailer. The abandoned trailer was approximately 300 (R. 780). yards from the Beaudoin trailer. (R. 754). The gravesite was partially covered by a plastic refrigerator pan and a metal refrigerator ice making unit. (R. 780-781). The victim, who was wrapped in a pink bedspread, was wearing only a T-shirt The victim's bottle was also recovered from the (R. (R. 786). Her left shoe was recovered from underneath a bed in the abandoned trailer. (R. 772). The right shoe was found under the residence occupied by Reese and Roman.

The state's experts testified that they found two pubic hairs and a scalp hair on the pink bedspread that were consistent with the pubic hairs and scalp hair of Roman. (R. 937; 941). A state expert further testified that fibers from clothes owned by Roman were present on the victim's T-shirt. (R. 972). In addition Roman's clothing contained fibers which came from the mattress cover and innerspring cover of a bed located in the abandoned trailer. (R. 760-761).

Dr. James Wilson, who performed the autopsy on the victim, testified that he found tears in the baby's hymen consistent with the insertion of a finger or similar sized object

into her vagina. (R. 714-718). The pathologist found dirt in the victim's nose, mouth, stomach and lungs. He further found that the victim's fingernails were caked with dirt and were shredded. He concluded that the cause of death was suffocation, probably from breathing sand. (R. 729-730).

On March 14, Roman gave a recorded statement to the police wherein he accused Reese of committing the murder. Roman admitted that he accompanied Reese to the abandoned trailer and carried the baby a short distance, but he denied participating in any sexual molestation of the victim. Roman alleges that he encouraged Reese to get out of there, but that Reese put the child in the grave. Roman admitted that he threw the refrigerator pan on top of the grave as he and Reese were leaving. (R. 853-876). Additional facts relevant to this court's analysis of the March 14, 1983, statement are more specifically detailed in the argument following Issue I in this brief.

The state elicited testimony from several witnesses as to whether Roman had been drinking on the night of the murder. Smith testified that she saw Roman at approximately 11:20 p.m. on March 13, but that he stayed in the Beaudoin trailer only a few minutes. (R. 492). Although she did not see him drinking, he left with a bottle of wine. (R. 530). Mogg saw Roman at the Beaudoin residence at approximately 6:30 p.m. on March 13, but does not recall seeing Roman at anytime between 10:00 p.m. and approximately 12:30 a.m., when he and Smith left the trailer. (R. 551). Mogg testified that he really didn't notice if Roman

was drunk at 6:30 p.m., but he didn't think so. (R. 541).

Ray Beaudoin testified that Smith and Mogg had both been drinking, and that Mogg was feeling it more. (R. 561). He stated that Roman entered the trailer shortly before he left for work at midnight, but that Beaudoin was getting ready for work and didn't pay any attention to Roman. (R. 554). He said that Reese drank often, but that he hadn't seen Reese drinking that night. Beaudoin alleged that Roman drank often and did strange things when he was drinking. (R. 567; R. 571). Wolf, who participated in the search, saw Roman walking from the direction of the abandoned trailer at approximately 3:15 a.m., but did not think that Roman was drunk.

Reese testified that Roman fell out of his chair when it tipped backwards, but that he did not think that Roman was drunk. (R. 632). Calvert, the neighbor who suggested that the police search for the baby near the abandoned trailer, testified that he saw Roman drinking at approximately 4:00 p.m. on March 13, but that he did not know if Roman was drunk. (R. 638).

The state's expert psychiatrists, Drs. Barnard and Carrera, testified that if Roman had not been drinking on the night of the murder, that he would have known right from wrong, and would have been sane. (R. 1029; 1083).

On cross-examination Dr. Carrera testified that Roman would have lost some of his ability to understand or reason if he had been drunk. Dr. Carrera could not say whether or not Roman would have been sane under the jury instructions' definition of insanity unless he knew the degree of Roman's drunkenness on the night of the murder. (R. 1104-1105). Barnard testified that

the drinking would have lowered Roman's capacity for reason, but he did not say whether it could have caused him to become insane. (R. 1055; 1061).

The defense evidence and testimony revealed the following facts:

Mildred Beaudoin testified that Roman had been drinking several bottles of wine over the course of four days, that he had been drinking from Mogg and Smith's bottle on the night of the murder, and was drunk at the time of the murder. (R. 1135). She stated that Roman fell down drunk on the floor, that she helped him off the floor and sent him home at about 1:00 p.m. (R. 1135-1136). On cross-examination the prosecutor directly inferred to the jury that Roman had confessed to the murder to Beaudoin. The Defendant moved for a mistrial because there was absolutely no evidence tending to prove the prosecutor's theory of a phantom confession, but the mistrial motion was denied. (R. 1160-1161).

Wanda Pritchard, who had known the Defendant for approximately five years, testified that she saw the Defendant at Beaudoin's residence after dark on the evening of March 13. (R. 1329-1330). She stated that Roman walked out of the trailer and fell down about three times, and that he told Pritchard that he didn't need any help and to leave him alone. She testified that he was definitely drunk and that he had been drunk for a few days. (R. 1330).

James Howton, a former police officer who assisted in the investigation, testified that he saw Roman with a wine bottle

during the early morning hours of March 14. (R. 1345).

Although Howton testified at trial that he did not believe Roman was drunk, Judge Booth declared him to be a hostile witness, and allowed the defense to impeach Howton with a prior deposition wherein he indicated that Roman looked "spaced out" as though he had been roaming around and drinking all night and that he looked hung over. (R. 1347-1352).

The defense expert, Dr. Lekarczyk, testified that had Roman been drunk, he would not have had the ability to reason accurately, that he would not have known right from wrong and that he would have been insane. (R. 1260-1261; 1311). She stated that Roman was suffering from chronic alcohol syndrome resulting from excessive abuse of alcohol and that he suffered and continues to suffer from schizophrenia. (R. 1260). On the contrary, Lekarczyk testified that Roman would clearly have been sane had he been sober at the time of the murder. (R. 1304; 1311).

Dr. Lekarczyk based her insanity opinion on the fact that Roman had a thirty-one year history of alcohol abuse, had been declared incompetent in 1968, had been sent to Florida State Hospital on several occasions, had been hospitalized for alcohol abuse on approximately nine to seventeen occasions, had an I.Q. of approximately 75, (just above the recognized retarded I.Q. of 70), had hallucinated in the past, shook with tremors, had a history of blackouts, had been declared incompetent to stand trial by Drs. Carrera and Barnard, and had manifested several other signs tending to prove alcohol abuse dependency and other mental illness.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At approximately 12:30 a.m. on March 14, 1981, Tasha Marie Smith, a two year old girl, disappeared from the backseat of a Volkswagen where she had been allegedly sleeping. Her partially nude body was discovered in a shallow grave at approximately 3:00 p.m. on March 14, 1981. Ernest Roman, who had previously been in trouble with the law, was transported to the Sumter County Sheriff's Office for the purposes of interrogation. At approximately 11:00 p.m. Roman gave a statement wherein he accused Arthur Reese, his roommate, of committing the murder. 853-876). Roman was thereafter charged with first degree (R. murder and sexual battery upon the two year old victim. 1629). On April 24, 1981, the Sumter County grand jury indicted Roman for first degree murder, sexual battery upon a person under the age of eleven years and kidnapping. (R.

On March 23, 1981, Roman filed a Motion for Psychiatric Examination which was amended on April 1, 1981. (R. 1635; 1637). The amended motion alleged that Roman was taking psychotropic medication and had been previously adjudicated to be incompetent. (R. 1637). The two court appointed psychiatrists, Drs. Barnard and Carrera, filed written reports indicating that Roman may not have been competent to stand trial. (R. 1703-1707). On May 15, 1981, Judge William F. Edwards entered an Order temporarily committing Roman to the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Serivces North Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center. (R. 1698-1699). On May 18, 1981, Judge Edwards entered an Amended Order of Commitment wherein he recited that the Defendant was

"probably" not competent to stand trial. (R. 1700-1702). On July 1, 1981, Roman filed his Notice of Intent to Rely on the Defense of Insanity. (R. 1715). On July 21, 1981, Judge Edwards entered an Order determining that Roman was incompetent to stand trial. (R. 1852-1853). Roman was involuntarily committed. The lower court's decision was predicated upon oral testimony given by Dr. Carrera which was corroborated by written reports submitted by the North Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center and by written reports filed by Drs. Barnard and Carrera. (R. 1852-1853; R. 1703-1707).

On March 9, 1982, Judge John W. Booth entered an exparte Order for further psychiatric examination to determine whether the Defendant was sane at the time of the commission of the crime. (R. 1862-1863). The court appointed experts, Drs. Barnard and Carrera, prepared their written reports on March 20, 1982. (R. 1884-1887; R. 1889-1892). Dr. Barnard concluded that:

"It is my medical opinion had the Defendant not been under the influence of alcohol and drugs at the time of the alleged crime, he would have been legally sane knowing the nature, quality and consequences of his actions and knowing the difference between right and wrong."

Dr. Carrera stated that he was unable to reach an opinion as to Roman's sanity at the time of the offense. (R. 1892).

On October 8, 1982, Judge John W. Booth entered an Order requesting the court appointed psychiatrists to perform further examination to determine Roman's competency to stand

trial. (R. 1896-1897). On November 2, 1982, Judge Booth entered an Order determining that Roman was competent to stand trial. (R. 1920-1922).

On November 24, 1982, Roman filed a Motion to Suppress his March 14, 1981, statement. (R. 1941). On December 8, 1982, Judge Booth entered an Order denying the Motion to Suppress. (R. 2002).

On February 24, 1983, the Defendant's Motion for Change of Venue was granted. The court transferred venue from Sumter to Citrus County, Florida. (R. 2286). On March 10, 1983, the jury found Roman guilty of first degree premeditated murder, sexual battery of a person under the age of 11 years by a person over 18 years and kidnapping. (R. 2467-2468). On March 11, 1983, a majority of the jury, by vote of 10 to 2, recommended that the court impose the death penalty. (R. 2478). On March 18, 1983, Judge Booth ordered that Roman be electrocuted. (R. Roman was given a life sentence without possibility of parole for a minimum of 25 years for the sexual battery conviction. Roman was sentenced to another life term for the kidnapping conviction. The kidnapping sentence was imposed to run consecutively to the sexual battery conviction. (R. 2504-2505).

On March 16, 1983, Roman filed a Motion for New Trial which was amended on May 18, 1983. (R. 2487-2491). The Motion, as amended, contained 17 grounds for reversal. The Motion for New Trial was argued and denied on May 23, 1983. (R. 2608). This appeal ensued.

ISSUES PRESENTED

ISSUE I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS AND BY ADMITTING HIS STATEMENTS INTO EVIDENCE AT TRIAL OVER THE DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION.

ISSUE II

THE COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHEN WITNESS CALVERT TESTIFIED THAT HE HAD OVERHEARD THE DEFENDANT'S SISTER, MILDRED BEAUDOIN, STATE THAT "ERNEST HAD KILLED ANOTHER KILLED A BABY I RECKON."

ISSUE III

THE COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHEN THE PROSECUTOR ASKED A LEADING QUESTION OF THE DEFENDANT'S SISTER, MILDRED BEAUDOIN, WHICH DIRECTLY INFERRED THAT ROMAN HAD CONFESSED TO HER WHERE THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TENDING TO PROVE THIS PHANTOM CONFESSION; THE COURT COMPOUNDED ITS ERROR BY ALLOWING THE PROSECUTOR TO CROSS-EXAMINE BEAUDOIN REGARDING HER OUT OF COURT STATEMENT OF OPINION THAT "ERNIE HAS KILLED A BABY, I RECKON."

ISSUE IV

THE COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHEN THE PROSECUTOR ASKED A DEPUTY SHERIFF A LEADING QUESTION THAT EXPRESSLY INFERRED THAT THE DEFENDANT HAD A PRIOR CRIMINAL RECORD.

ISSUE V

THE COURT COMMITTED FUNDAMENTAL ERROR WHEN IT FAILED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT THE STATE HAD THE BURDEN OF PROVING BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS LEGALLY SANE AT THE TIME OF THE COMMISSION OF THE ALLEGED OFFENSE.

ISSUE VI

THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE INSTRUCTION DURING THE PENALTY PHASE AND FURTHER ERRED BY SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT TO DEATH.

ISSUE I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS AND BY ADMITTING HIS STATEMENTS INTO EVIDENCE AT TRIAL OVER THE DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION.

Prior to trial, the Defendant filed a Motion to Suppress Statements. (R. 1941). That Motion was directed toward suppressing as evidence at trial an incriminating statement given by Roman to a group of three Sumter County sheriff's deputies who interrogated him on the night of his arrest. (R. 1801-1821). The trial court held a three-day evidentiary hearing on the Motion to Suppress Statements. (R. 2013). At the conclusion of the hearing the lower court, without further elucidation, simply ruled:

The Court: All right. Motion is denied. (R. 2226).

During the trial, over the renewed objection by the Defendant, the court allowed testimony about the statements to be admitted into evidence. (R. 840). The state also played a tape recording of the Defendant's statement for the jury's consideration. (R. 853).

The denial of the Motion to Suppress and the introduction into evidence of the Defendant's incriminating statements violated his rights guaranteed by the fifth, sixth and fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution.

Accordingly, the admission of those statements constituted harmful, reversible error.

The evidence and testimony at the suppression hearing traced the various exchanges between Roman and the deputy

sheriffs leading up to Roman's statement. Roman was standing near the crime scene around 4:30 p.m. on March 14, 1981, as the search continued for the missing child. (R. 2099). At about that time, Deputy Foremny was instructed to go "pick-up" Roman at the scene. (R. 2108). Deputy Thompson, one of the Sumter County deputies in charge of the investigation, testified that he might have issued the pick-up order. (R. 2109). Sheriff Adams and Deputy Galvin denied responsibility for the deed. (R. 2031).

When Roman was picked up at the scene by Deputy

Foremny, he was placed in the locked, rear seat of the patrol
car. (R. 2108). He was not handcuffed, but he was advised of
his Miranda rights by Deputy Thompson. (R. 2100-2101).

Thompson testified that Roman was there "voluntarily." (R.
2102). He also testified that Roman had stated at the scene:

"Yes. Let's go ahead and get this mess over with so I can go to Eustis." (R. 2102)

Roman was transported to the Sumter County Sheriff's Office in the locked, rear part of the patrol car. (R. 2030). He arrived there at 1651 hours (4:51 p.m.) and was taken somewhere into the sheriff's department/jail facility. (R. 2107). Deputy Thompson testified that Roman probably was detained in the jail portion of the building pending questioning (R. 2117); Sheriff Adams and Deputy Galvin were unsure. (R. 2036; 2155).

¹Roman's reference to Eustis clearly referred to the Lake-Sumter Community Mental Health in-patient facility in Eustis, Florida, a licensed psychiatric hospital where Roman had been hospitalized on numerous occasions. (R. 1554).

The interrogation session with Roman did not begin until 1832 hours (6:32 p.m.). (R. 2108; 2136). Roman was interviewed intermittently by Adams, Galvin and Thompson in the sheriff's office investigation room. (R. 2034; 2137). The Defendant was re-advised of his Miranda rights by Deputy Galvin who read them from a printed card. (R. 2140). Roman refused to sign the Miranda card, stating that he could not do so because he had no rights. (R. 2140). According to Deputy Thompson:

He refused to [sign the Miranda card]. He didn't - - he said he had been to Chattahoochee, and he didn't have any rights. (R. 2129).

During the interrogation session, Roman became ill and vomited a number of times. (R. 2120; 2162). The deputies testified that throughout the session Roman's hands would tremble and shake (R. 2074); on other occasions he also appeared sleepy. Sheriff Adams and Deputy Thompson opined that he (R. 2184). looked like someone "coming off a drunk." (R. 2074; 2123). At several points during the questioning, Roman would stop answering He was never re-advised of his Miranda questions. (R. 2176). rights after 6:32 p.m. (R. 2176). The sheriff's deputies continued to question Roman, even after his refusals to answer. (R. 2176).

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