IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA **FILFD** SID J. WHITE DEC 16 1983 CLERK SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy

By

ERNEST LEE ROMAN,

Appellant,

:

:

:

:

:

:

CASE NO. 63,766

vs.

Appellee.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCIUT IN AND FOR SUMIER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER Assistant Attorney General 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

-28-

The State would strongly argue, moreover, that such a rule is inappropriate as there exists absolutely no rational nexis between a defense lawyer's appearance on the scene and a defendant's need or desire for a lawyer's help which is always available to him upon the simple dialing of a telephone number. "Whatever its symbolic value, a rule that turns on how soon a defense lawyer appears at the police station or how quickly he springs to the telephone hardly seems a rational way of reconciling the interests of the accused with those of society." Y. Kamisar, Brewer v. Williams, Massiah, and Miranda: What is "Interrogation"? When does it Matter? in Police Interrogation and Confessions 220 (1980).

The State would also strongly argue that this view is at odds with the opinion of the Supreme Court of the United States in <u>Brewer v. Williams</u>, 430 U.S. 387, 97 S.Ct. 1232, 51 L.Ed.2d 424 (1977). The Supreme Court has never held that the decision to waive the right to counsel should be a jointly reasoned decision between the accused <u>and</u> his attorney. The Court stated in Brewer:

> . . .The Court of Appeals did not hold, nor do we, that under the circumstances of this case Williams <u>could not</u>, without notice to counsel, have waived his rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. It only held, as do we, that he did not.

430 U.S. at 405-406,97 S.Ct. at 1243, 51 L.Ed.2d at 441. (emphasis added)

Logic dictates that if a defendant can waive the right to counsel without notice to counsel (that he has specifically retained and is aware of), he can certainly waive the right to counsel without notice to an attorney who purports to act on behalf of the accused, that the accused does not even have knowledge of.

The evidence is overwhelming that Roman was admonished of the

-29-

right to remain silent and of his right to retained or appointed counsel. "It hardly seems conceivable that the additional information that an attorney whom he did not know had called the police station would have added significantly to the quantum of information necessary for the accused to make an informed decision as to waiver." <u>State v. Burbine</u>, 451 A.2d 22,29 (R.I. 1982).

"Is society so orderly, is crime so well under control, that we can indulge ourselves in the luxury of reversing convictions on grounds not touching the question of guilt or innocence or the voluntariness of a defendant's statements?" <u>People v. Donovan</u>, 13 N.Y.2d 148, 193 N.E.2d 628,634 (N.Y. 1963) (dissent). "The perpetrator of a crime is normally the one who knows most about it and his confession, voluntarily made is often the best evidence of his guilt that can be obtained." <u>Donovan</u>, 193 N.E.2d at 632 quoting Justice Trayonr in <u>People v. Garner</u>, 367 P.2d 680,696. "To permit a suspect in cases such as the present, to confer with an attorney before talking to the police would preclude effective police interrogation and would in many instances impair their ability to solve difficult cases." <u>Donovan</u>, 193 N.E.2d at 630.

The State would submit that the results of adopting such a rule would be disastrous. Such consequences were pointed out in State v. Burbine, supra:

> . . .We fear that if such a rule were adopted, there would be nothing to prevent or discourage the office of the public defender or other defense counsel who represent a large number of recidivistic clients from sending to the various police departments throughout the state the names of these clients, together with a request that these attorneys be notified in the event that such individuals are arrested for criminal conduct. Under such a rule, the failure of the police, whether by administrative inadequacy or otherwise, to effectuate such a notification would

> > -30-

then be fatal to the admissibility of any statements thereafter obtained. As the crime rate increases and as organized society seems ever more impotent to deal with crime on our streets, in our neighborhoods, and in our homes, this addition to the Miranda requirements seems as unwise on policy grounds as it is unnecessary on constitutional grounds. Thus far, the Supreme Court of the United States has placed no such mandate upon us.

451 A.2d at 30.

It was further suggested in <u>Burbine</u> that "the next logical step would be to ban confessions altogether on the theory that a person should not be denied his right to counsel on the fortuitous circumstance that someone might not see fit to call the station." 451 A.2d at 30.

Before reaching the issue of waiver, however, a threshold determination must be made whether an attorney-client relationship existed between Roman and Mr. Coniglio. Although Attorney Coniglio purportedly called the sheriff's department and advised them he'd been retained by the family and asked them not to question Roman, the record shows that at that point Coniglio had not even decided whether he would take the case (R 2150). His testimony conclusively shows the lack of an attorney-client relationship. (See section X, appellee's Statement of Facts).

-31-

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL ON THE BASIS OF WITNESS DOUGLAS CALVERT'S TESTIMONY.

At the trial below, the State called Douglas Calvert as a rebuttal witness. Thereafter, it asked Calvert the following question:

Q. Did you have occasion to overhear what, if anything, Mildred Beaudoin said in that telephone conversation?

(R 1372)

The answer given by witness Calvert is in dispute and was the topic for a mistrial motion by the defense. The court reporter's notes spelled out the first three letters of a word defense counsel claims was actually "another." The court reporter's notes indicated that the answer to the question was the following:

> A. Yes. She said that "Ernest had killed 'ano' killed a baby I reckon."

(R 1372)

Defense counsel Harrison advised the court that he clearly heard the word another (R 1374). The State argued that the witness never got the word out and that the prosecutor's recollection in listening to the answer was that witness Calvert had stated "she said Ernie has killed an uh killed a baby I reckon." (R 1374) The State also argued:

> . . .It would seem, to someone listening to it who does not know the things that we know, that is, that the first statement was "killed another baby" back when his deposition was taken. The jury does not know that. And, since they don't know that they probably would have heard him say "an uh" as though it were "an baby", and he said "uh" in between the "an" and "baby", and then changed it to "a". So, I would submit that the only thing the jury would get out of that is

that he changed it from "an baby" to "ababy".

(R 1375)

The trial court denied the motion for mistrial stating as follows:

. . .I think that had the jury heard the testimony during the deposition, that was given at the deposition, that there might be a reason for them to take that he was saying "another child", but with the speech or the language that was used, I don't think that they would take it to be anything than he had "killed a uh, ah a baby", kind of a stammer. Natural stammer, that a witness would possibly, because of the nature of the thing, might just stammer before saying it. I don't think that it would give the connotation to the jury that he was saying "another child".

(R 1376)

The State would argue that a playing of the tape, which has been made a part of the record, and the listening thereto by someone unfamilar with the arguments advanced on appeal would not result in an interpretation of the disputed word as that of "another." (R 2641) During the State's case in chief, defense counsel had previously objected to the testimony of Calvert that he had overheard Mildred Beaudoin state on the telephone that "Ernie has killed a baby, I reckon." The court overruled the objection on the basis that Beaudoin's statement was an excited utterance, an exception to the hearsay rule under Section 90.803(02), Florida Statutes (1981). It is well settled that even if the declarant is available as a witness, a statement or excited utterance relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition is not inadmissible as hearsay, Florida Statutes, Section 90.803(2). This code provision is in accord with prior decisions, which held such statements admissible when they

-33-

were produced by circumstances causing excitement which temporarily prevented reflection and produced an utterance free of fabrication <u>Foster v.</u> <u>Thornton</u>, 125 Fla. 699, 170 So. 459 (1936). In the case <u>sub judice</u>, Beaudoin's excited utterance occurred after an ambulance had gone up the hill to pick up the body of Tasha Marie Smith, at which point she collapsed and fell down and was assisted into her trailer by Douglas Calvert. She immediately made a phone call in which she made the statement in issue, that "Ernest had killed a baby, I reckon" (R 371-372). Clearly the startling event in the case <u>sub</u> judice was Beaudoin's witnessing of the ambulance, which led to the telephone call and the statement.

In a similar case, <u>Conner v. State</u>, 356 So.2d 336 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978) a statement made by the defendant's son while both were engaged in a fight and shortly before the defendant pulled out a gun and shot two men, "You better watchout, my dad is a killer," was properly admissible under the excited utterance theory. It was not held inadmissible despite its possibly prejudicial effect.

Aside from whether or not this Court finds such a spontaneous or excited utterance to be admissible, Roman contends that the real issue is that of prejudice to the appellant, since even were such a statement admissible, its probative value would be outweighed by prejudice. The State would strongly argue that in light of the evidence in the case <u>sub judice</u>, the prejudice, if any, in admitting such testimony was non-existent. In the case <u>sub judice</u> there was not only sufficient testimony, but sufficient evidence from which a jury could find that it was Roman who committed the offense. Although, in a capital case, this Court will carefully scrutinize any error before determining it to be harmless, it will not presume that there was prejudice Salvatore v. State, 366 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1978), cert. den. 444 U.S.

-34-

885, 100 S.Ct. 177, 62 L.Ed.2d 1115 (1975). In determining whether an erroneous ruling below caused harm to the substantial rights of the defendant, an appellate court considers all the relevant circumstances, including any curative ruling or event and the general weight and quality of the evidence. In other words, the court inquires generally whether, but for the erroneous ruling, it is likely that the result below would have been different. See Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 882, 102 S.Ct. 369 (1981); Campbell v. State, 227 So.2d 873 (Fla. 1969), cert. dismissed, 401 U.S. 801, 91 S.Ct. 7, 27 L.Ed.2d 33 (1970). In the case sub judice, it is not likely that the result below would have been different had the court made a different ruling. As more fully addressed in point III, Roman claimed to have spoken to Mildred Beaudoin the morning after the crime, a fact which Beaudoin denied, and claims no knowledge of the circumstances of the crime despite the fact that she knew of all those present that evening, Roman was the only one with access to the child and despite her subsequent act of breaking down upon seeing the ambulance and stating on the telephone "Ernest has killed a baby, I reckon." Her subsequent acts, apart from being spontaneous and free of fabrication, were relevant to show that Beaudoin did have knowledge that Roman played a part in the crime and belie her contention that she had not spoken to Roman about the incident.

Alternatively, the State would argue that even if the admission of such testimony was error, that Mildred Beaudoin was not an unavailable declarant and her testimony for the defense would clearly show a lack of knowledge in regard to Roman's guilt or innocence, and moreover, on crossexamination Beaudoin testified that she did not remember what she said on the phone because she was too upset and hysterical (R 1160-1161). Clearly, if there was error, as the appellant condends, due to the lack of personal

-35-

knowledge on the part of Mildred Beaudoin as to whether Roman had in fact killed a baby, such error could not have tainted the jury's decision as it was obvious from Beaudoin's testimony that she had not witnessed the crime nor had any reason, other than her hysterical state, to believe that the crime was committed by Roman. The State would strongly argue that the result below would not have been different had the testimony not been admitted, due to the general weight and quality of the evidence against Roman. This is obvious from the statement of the facts contained in this brief and is more fully argued in other points. Even constitutional error may be treated as harmless where the evidence of guilt is overwhelming <u>Jones v.</u> <u>State</u>, 332 So.2d 615,619 (Fla. 1976). For reasons addressed more fully on other points in this brief, the State would argue that in the case <u>sub judice</u> the evidence of guilt was overwhelming.

The State would also reiterate its prior contention that a playing of the tape of the testimony of Douglas Calvert, which is included within this record on appeal, conclusively shows that the word "another" was not heard by the jury; nor could the sounds that were heard by the jury be construed by the jury to mean the word "another." Even in the event that this Court cannot so conclude upon listening to the tape, the State would also point out that one cannot know how the jury construed his answer, or what weight was given to it: therefore, to assert that it was construed as meaning that Mildred Beaudoin had knowledge that Roman had killed another baby would be pure speculation. Reversible error cannot be predicated on conjecture <u>Singer v. State</u>, 109 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1959); <u>Sullivan v. State</u>, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974). Further, as the appellant admits, such testimony was not provoked by the State.

-36-

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHEN THE PROSECUTOR ASKED THE DEFENDANT'S SISTER IF THE DEFENDANT HAD TALKED TO HER THE MORNING BEFORE HE WAS ARRESTED, AS SUCH QUESTION DID NOT DIRECTLY INFER THAT THE APPELLANT HAD CONFESSED TO HIS SISTER.

Roman called his sister, Mildred Beaudoin, as his first witness. On cross-examination of Beaudoin the prosecutor asked:

> Q. Isn't it a fact that you talked to your brother, the morning before he was arrested, and he told you what happened?

A. No, sir.

(R 1160-1161)

A mistrial should only be granted when such fundamental or prejudicial error has been committed as will require the granting of a new trial later. In most cases the prejudicial error will be cured by asking the judge for a curative instruction to the jury that they disregard the objectionable matters. Where improper questions are asked of a witness in the presence of the jury, the defendant should request the court to instruct the jury to disregard the objectionable remarks Sykes v. State, 329 So.2d 356 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); Perry v. State, 146 Fla. 187, 200 So. 525 (1941). In the case sub judice, the appellant did not request the trial court to instruct the jury to disregard the objectionable remark (R 1161). In essence, the trial court was not given the opportunity to cure any possible prejudicial error through curative instructions to the jury that they disregard the objectionable matters. The State would submit that this is not a case where such prejudicial error occurred that could not be cured by an instruction and would require the granting of a new trial later. If there was error, counsel for Roman could have minimized the impact of said error on the jury by requesting curative instructions of the trial court.

-37-

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